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AUTHOR’S NOTE





  The quotes from Lord Woolton – and other main protagonists such as his wife Maud Woolton or Winston Churchill – are mainly based on Woolton’s own writings,

  from his memoirs, diaries, a long tribute he wrote to his late wife, from his letters and other personal writings and also the diaries of his wife Maud. While his memoirs are more tempered, his

  private writings are quite extraordinary in both style, tone, temper and sound. So most quotes, dialogue and speech come from those writings – often using multiple sources for individual

  scenes – which would make the constant referencing of them tiresome. If I have ever paraphrased, elongated or massaged a quote, it is done faithfully and with respect for both the original

  source material and the reader.
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  A NEW MAN AT THE MINISTRY





  Late afternoon, Thursday 3 April 1940. Seven months into the Second World War and, in an office in London’s Tothill Street in Westminster, a grey-haired man in his late

  fifties, dressed in a three-piece pin-striped suit, with a watch chain, was placing the few remaining items left on his desk – a small framed picture and an ink pot – into a box. In an

  ashtray a pipe smouldered.




  Fred Marquis, latterly ennobled as Lord Woolton, was leaving his post, an advisory position with the less-than-exciting title of Director General of Equipment and Stores. His new role had a

  simpler name and was a touch more glamorous: in a matter of hours he would be Minister of Food.




  The previous day, Woolton had received a telephone call from the Prime Minister’s office, asking if he would visit Neville Chamberlain at seven o’clock that evening.




  ‘I understand that your department is running so smoothly that you are now unnecessary,’ were Chamberlain’s opening words when they met.




  Woolton, in his memoirs, wrote that it was ‘said without a smile, in his rather cold manner, and I realized that for some reason or other he proposed to remove me’.




  Woolton assumed that he would then be released to return to his actual day job, as head of the Manchester-based (and country’s biggest) department store chain, Lewis’s.




  ‘Am I now free to go and look after my own business affairs?’ asked Woolton.




  Chamberlain replied that this was not his intention, instead he was making some changes in his Cabinet and he wanted Woolton to join the government as Minister of Food.




  The task would see Woolton heading a ministry whose job was, in simple terms, to feed Britain and her colonies during the straitened times of the Second World War.




  That meant 41 million men, women and children in Britain and Northern Ireland, with an oversight of the 532 million people of the British Empire. He would have to manage the purchase and

  importation of food, ensure its fair distribution across the country, tackle the very low productivity of home-grown sustenance, and, with the system of rationing that had begun on 8 January of

  that year, ensure that abuses of the system were kept to a minimum – and a black market thwarted.




  Woolton left Downing Street, discussed the proposal with his wife Maud and then accepted the job the following day. At which point he immediately began to feel apprehensive.




  ‘I was embarking on a new life,’ he later reflected, ‘at the age of fifty-eight, with many fears about my own capacity to succeed in these new and

  unaccustomed fields of parliamentary responsibility, and with a profound sense of the dire consequences to the country if I failed.’




  As he cleared his office he considered the challenges of the coming days. His new offices were just north of Oxford Street, physically some two miles away from the political machine of

  government in Whitehall.




  He would get his feet under the desk and spend the days and nights reading to get on top of the subject. There was a large bureaucracy that supported the ministry and he wondered how immovable a

  beast it would be.




  He pondered on the day he would be presented to the press as the new minister and vowed to be ready for the difficult questions that would be thrown his way.




  Those first few days of reading and research would be invaluable; he was a stickler for detail and accuracy. He was also a man of firm mind and steely determination, and remained resolute that

  no decision, no public comment should ever be made without a very clear understanding of the facts.




  There was a knock at the door and the secretary – who had served him well since he had taken up his post at the Ministry of Supply just days after war had been declared – announced a

  visitor.




  ‘Sir Henry French is here for you, Lord Woolton,’ the secretary said.




  Woolton looked startled. He had heard about this man; a career civil servant, Sir Henry French was the Ministry of Food’s Permanent Secretary, classically implacable and solemn. Sir Henry had joined the Civil Service in 1901 at the age of eighteen as a second-division clerk to the Board of Agriculture; moving slowly but steadily up the ranks, he had

  built a reputation as a sound, if inflexible, administrator until joining the Ministry of Food at the start of the war. Fifty-six when war broke out, Sir Henry had spent thirty-eight of those years

  in the same department. He was, according to the Oxford Dictionary of National Biography, ‘unapproachable and vain. He made up his mind about people and rarely changed it.’ He

  was known to wear the responsibilities of his job in the lines on his face, and there was no known evidence that he had a sense of humour.




  Woolton wondered how they would get on. He was a man who liked to get things done, who would often circumvent the traditional channels to implement decisions. Since starting work for the

  government some six months previously, his battles with the Civil Service had already landed him in hot water. He was keen to start this new job on the front foot. He would be ready for Sir Henry

  French.




  He would settle into his new office, take a puff on his pipe, having spent time studying the machinations of his new ministry. Then he would call upon his Permanent Secretary.




  But, it seemed, Sir Henry was already a step ahead of him and had come to stalk Woolton before he had even left his old job.




  Sir Henry entered the room, the two men shook hands and, before any platitudes were offered, the civil servant informed Woolton that he had come simply to inform him that the following day he

  was to address a meeting at the Queen’s Hall.




  ‘I was horrified,’ Woolton reflected.




  This grand building, on Langham Place, was, before the war, a concert hall, but it now served as an ideal place for important political speeches, where the press and public could attend in large

  numbers (the building would later be destroyed by an incendiary bomb in the blitz of May 1941).




  The speech, explained Sir Henry, would bring the press up to date with the Ministry of Food’s plans, schemes and tactics.




  ‘But I can’t make a speech about something about which I know nothing,’ Woolton exclaimed to Sir Henry. The Permanent Secretary looked surprised at this answer and Woolton

  quickly understood that this was exactly what one did in the upper echelons of politics.




  ‘There was no escape,’ he mused in his diary at the prospect of the following day’s event, ‘The meeting was widely advertised and a wide range of important people had

  been invited – from press to the Prime Minister’s wife, Mrs Chamberlain.’




  The occasion had originally been arranged for his predecessor, William Morrison.




  ‘This meeting will be an excellent opportunity for you to make your mark with the public,’ said Sir Henry, who then handed him a few sheets of paper, adding ‘And here,

  Minister, is your speech.’




  ‘My trouble was that I had not formulated any policy,’ wrote Woolton, ‘but Sir Henry told me that there was no difficulty about that, because he had the whole statement most

  clearly laid out for me.’




  It was, explained Sir Henry, officials who decided the policy and Woolton’s job ‘to expound the policy, to explain it to the public.’ Woolton did not like

  this. ‘That was not my conception of the function of a minister. There was a further difficulty in that I am incapable of making a speech that I have not prepared myself.’




  It was now the early evening and, reflected Woolton, ‘there was no escape from this meeting. The Press indicated that they were anxious to hear my policy.’




  There was nothing he could do. So he cancelled his evening plans, left his old ministry and resolved to work at home until the small hours.




  ‘I sat up all that night studying the papers and getting myself acquainted with the current position of food supplies,’ he recalled. ‘I felt like a barrister briefed to appear

  in Court. But what a Court!’




  The following day, after just a few hours sleep, he found himself in the Queen’s Hall, on a platform alongside Sir Henry French and another ministry official, looking out at a full

  auditorium and a pack of pressmen flashing their cameras. Questions were shouted, he was asked to pose this way, then that, he felt almost blinded by the ceaseless flashing lights. Then, as the

  cacophony turned to a murmur and the room began to hush, he heard the whirr of the BBC news cameras, he saw the recording equipment of the radio teams.




  As an official introduced the Ministry of Food’s new boss to the hall, Woolton considered his resolve that previous night. He would look out at the audience, but in his mind would see far

  beyond. ‘My audience is not the aggregate of the public who are listening but the detail of the individual in front of the domestic receiving set,’ he thought to himself, as he recalled in his memoirs. ‘In the front of my mind I keep a picture of a man in his cottage, sitting without a collar, with slippers on, at the end of the day’s work,

  with children playing on the rug, with his wife washing up in an adjoining room with the door open.’




  If his talk was successful, Woolton allowed himself to imagine an additional moment in that scene. As his voice would come over the radio, ‘a visitor arrives in the middle of my broadcast.

  The man says: “Sit down and shut up; we are listening to Woolton.”’




  On a table in front of Woolton was the stack of papers that contained the new minister’s speech, dutifully presented the previous day. To the right of that were some smaller sheets of

  writing paper, with notes scrawled across them.




  Just before Woolton stood to command the microphone, he conspicuously moved the stack of papers to the left, effectively discarding them, and instead picked up his own notes. He nodded with a

  faint look of amusement in his eyes to Sir Henry, who could not conceal a look of intense alarm. And then Lord Woolton rose to his feet and uttered the first words of his new career.
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  INTRODUCING FRED





  Frederick James Marquis was a particularly treasured child to his parents Thomas and Margaret. He was born on 23 August 1883. Fifteen months earlier, his parents’ first

  born, Ernest, had lived for only eleven days.




  His mother Margaret thus cherished this baby, who remained the couple’s only child. As she cradled Fred gently as a new-born, so she held him tightly while he grew. She dreaded the day she

  would have to relinquish him to the care of teachers as school. Then would come the tortuous prospect of his teenage years, giving way to his early twenties, when he might spend nights and even

  weeks away if he was to satisfy her almost impossible dream that he could attain a university education.




  And so as Fred grew up and did escape the nest, Margaret formed a metaphorical leash, as secure and strong as the force she used to hold him as a baby, except it now came

  in the form of a constant cavalcade of letters.




  Her missives were as frequent as today a worried mother might send an email. The letters came daily – sometimes there were two a day. More often than not, her main subject was laundry. She

  would sit at home fussing about exactly which clothes he had, which socks he might have on his feet, which shirt on his back. She felt she knew for sure every item of clothing he had in his

  drawers; each pair of shoes on the floor of his wardrobe, the suit hanging up, the pyjamas under his pillow.




  Invariably, the direction of traffic with the letters was one way. It meant Margaret would have to imagine her son’s response and so follow it up with another missive that scolded him.




  ‘My Dear Boy,’ she started one morning, when Fred was in his late teens, her fraying nerves rendering her just a little cross: ‘I told you [sic] would require a clean shirt

  before the end of the week but you thought not.’ Washing had become an obsession. ‘I wonder if you have a shirt ready,’ she continued, ‘you said you are going out to dinner

  on Thursday.’




  Knowing exactly the number of shirts he had, her calculations had raised the dreadful possibility that his evening shirt, if not dirty, was certainly not pressed.




  There was further horror in her mind about those items resting under his pillow.




  ‘Bring your pyjamas with you, really they must be awfully dirty, it is ages since you had clean ones,’ she implores of him, wondering when his next trip home would be. Indeed, it was

  vital he bring back home a large bundle of laundry. ‘If I were you,’ she writes, ‘I would put all of them in a bag and then once carrying would get all the

  dirty things home so that I can see to them and have them ready by the time they are wanted.’ Now, anyone casually browsing through the life of Frederick Marquis, first Earl of Woolton, might

  have been surprised to learn that his mother Margaret didn’t just fret about her son’s laundry, she actually did it herself.




  For when Woolton died at the age of eighty, in 1964, his home was a large pile in Sussex, he had been chairman of the Conservative Party, his son had been at the leading English public school

  Rugby, and one of his grandsons was down to attend Eton College with two others destined for Harrow School. He spoke with the clipped tones of the elite aristocracy and, as he recorded privately

  himself, Walberton House, where he lived near Arundel, had ‘an adequate staff and a lift’.




  Yet Woolton’s origins were not just humble, they were emphatically working class. Whereas today the modern politician would barely let an interview pass without eulogising on their near

  poverty-stricken roots, Woolton never mentioned his very real unassuming origins, indeed he rather buried them.




  The house where he was born was on a terrace, long since demolished, in Salford, Manchester. While his mother’s letters betray a well-educated woman, his father, Thomas, was an itinerant

  saddler; his only two surviving letters are written in pencil and reveal just the bare bones of literacy. A note to young Fred (thanking him for a gift of some kind of personal item with his name

  embossed upon it), reads, free of grammar: ‘I am so pleased with it I would not have wished for anything else it is fine and fancy the initials are great.’ In

  another letter, penned on Fred’s eighteenth birthday in 1901, his father says: ‘it does not seem long since you were only quite a little kid but we must not look back in what you are

  now one of the rising lights and I hope you may have health to continue to rise with love from Pa.’




  Thomas’s family had been smallholders, farming in Lancashire. Their small acreage was on the Fylde plain, a flat piece of ground jutting out to the Irish Sea. His father, James, was the

  second son and had been given none of that modest patch of land to manage; so he found a job as landlord of a pub called the Black Bull Inn in nearby Kirkham. The town was familiar territory for

  the family, and among the stone tomb chests and monuments in the graveyard of St Michael’s Church are several gravestones that bear the family name of Marquis.




  James married his barmaid Harriet, apparently to save having to pay her a wage, and, so goes the family story, he threw his newly-wed’s bonnet into the fire on returning from their

  wedding, saying: ‘You won’t need that for working.’




  His son Thomas received the same scant generosity and found a role as a saddler to service the horses and coaches used by those staying at the inn. On his father’s death in 1879, the inn

  fell into new hands and Thomas found himself unemployed. He moved to Liverpool, the big city that was then a magnet for the rural dispossessed; but presumably he was unsuccessful in his quest to

  find work as, by 1883, he had moved again to Salford, although he had at least found a wife in Margaret Ormerod.




  In fact he never did seem to find a constant occupation, his early skills as a saddler finding diminishing custom as the motorcar began to outsell the horse-driven coach.

  The impression is of a man more often morose and inactive. ‘Our Da is not much better but no worse,’ writes Margaret on several occasions. News of him in her letters includes his fixing

  a wardrobe, visiting the bank and putting down rat poison.




  Margaret, meanwhile, clings to Fred. It appears she doesn’t enjoy good health, is generally lonely and has few, if any, friends. Any family back in Kirkham are never mentioned with any

  warmth, and if anyone calls on her they come at the wrong time and then stay too long.




  The thrust of her days revolves around Fred and whatever he is doing, and while she keeps a constant watch on him, desperate not to let him go, she also relies on him completely. Once he hits

  his late teens he looks after all of her finances and he buys her everything, from envelopes to fruit. All the while she continues to scold him; he doesn’t write to her often enough –

  one suspects he couldn’t have matched her record even if he’d had the spirit or time for it – he doesn’t keep himself out of the rain, his friends are suspect and he works

  too hard. She dotes on him, desperate that, as she writes to him, he will ‘do something proper’, imagining fancifully that he could one day attain such status as to be knighted.

  ‘Wouldn’t it be great?’ she writes, but adds: ‘It won’t happen if you sit up working until two in the morning. For you will wear all your strength out whilst you are

  only a young man.’ In fact Woolton would spend much of his life working until two in the morning. But at the time his mother was fussing about this particular aspect of his life he was

  studying at Manchester’s College of Technology.




  His education had begun in 1897 at Ardwick Higher Grade School. He was there until fourteen when, having won a County Council Exhibition, he went to Manchester Grammar

  School.




  Already he had attained more than any of his family forebears. Then came a moment when he achieved something his grandfather, pouring a jug of ale at the Black Bull Inn, would have scoffed at as

  fantasy. Fred was offered a place at Cambridge.




  But he turned it down. Many years later he claimed the reason for this was that his father had told him, on the day he received the telegram with the news from Cambridge, that doctors had

  recently given him just six months to live. Fred’s response was to tear up the telegram and pledge to stay at or near home to help look after his father.




  As it transpired, the doctors were a little off the mark. Thomas Marquis lived for a further forty-eight years. Perhaps it was an act of extraordinary selfishness, or maybe it was fear; knowing

  his wife’s possessive obsession with their son, perhaps Thomas dreaded the consequences if Fred moved away to Cambridge.




  But there was another reason. Much as Fred would have loved to have gone up to Cambridge, to study and live with the country’s best-educated sophisticates, he would not have been able to

  afford the living costs. He would have struggled to pay for accommodation, let alone the high living; the eating, the drinking, the vacations in Europe with new-found friends. His wife Maud would

  later write in her diary that he wanted to go to Cambridge ‘very badly, but he couldn’t afford it’.




  Frederick Marquis may have been destined to progress through the class system, but a move to Cambridge aged twenty was a leap far too early.




  So he stayed in Manchester, a city that he never ceased to romanticise about. He said of it later that it was ‘not so much a city as a state of mind . . . Manchester’s straight talk,

  her ferocious contempt for appearances, her unconcealed uninhibited friendliness for people she liked, her gentle cherishing of certain cultural values.’ It was a place where the local sport

  was, he said, ‘bubble pricking’, a sport that he was to indulge in, although mostly privately in the pages of his diary, many years later when he joined the Second World War

  government.




  The city also had an undercurrent of socialism which Fred actively engaged in, joining the Fabian Society, an organisation that worked to promote such things as equality in life, power, wealth

  and opportunity. It was an activity that those very government colleagues he would later disparage would cite as evidence that Woolton was a ‘pinko’; a not-quite-red but communist

  sympathiser in the midst of establishment Conservatives. Woolton’s early life did indeed see him on the left of the political spectrum; but as he progressed through life he would come to view

  capitalism as the key solution to poverty. Socialism for him would become a dirty word, an ideology that would not achieve anything. And this man, who at one time worshipped the thinking of

  Scottish socialist Keir Hardie, would eventually become a passionate Conservative and finally chairman of the establishment Tory party (in 1946, although he would not actually become a paid-up

  member of the Conservatives until Churchill’s party was defeated in the General Election of 1945). Woolton would make a journey from intellectual socialist, to

  practical businessman to right-of-centre politician.




  While the Manchester of the early 1900s certainly had prosperity – it was a town that had grown rich on the cotton trade, had access to the coalfields of the north and had been the beating

  heart of the Industrial Revolution – it also had its bleak side.




  Just half of the homes in the late Victorian era, whose male inhabitants were the cogs of the great revolution from agrarian to machine economy, had running water. Up to thirty families would

  share the same outdoor privy, rubbish was collected infrequently, and many houses became brick warrens whose dank passages led to tiny rooms devoid of natural light or ventilation.




  Fred was more than aware of this standard of living as his parents’ home was not exactly on the smart side of town. And he stayed here – to study a mix of chemistry and psychology,

  followed by an MA in economics – until 1906. The subjects came easily to him.




  ‘I had a natural aptitude for the sciences,’ he wrote later in life. He also expressed considerable pride that one teacher was a Professor Samuel Alexander. He was, wrote Woolton,

  ‘One of the greatest of the living philosophers of the time.’ Three times a week he would lecture to a select group of just three students. To be chosen for this group was no mean

  achievement. Woolton delighted in recording the professor’s view that ‘there was only one person in ten thousand who had the mental capacity to understand what he was talking

  about.’ Their tutorials would start at 4.15 p.m. in Professor Alexander’s rooms; the philosopher would usher in his students, pour himself a cup of tea, feed his

  dog and then talk until eight o’clock. ‘He poured out to us his wisdom that was so profound and knowledgeable, that was so exciting, and often disturbing, as to leave us in a state of

  wonderment as to what we were going to do with it all,’ wrote Woolton. But it was this teaching that convinced 20-something Fred that he should become a sociologist; that he should analyse

  how human society organises itself.




  As part of his postgraduate studies, in 1908, he moved for a time to Liverpool, finding lodgings with fellow graduates at 129 Park Street. This was a slum district, near the dock road, in the

  south of the city, where poverty was even more acute than in his native Manchester. The activities of these graduates were part of what was known as the ‘settlement movement’, a late

  nineteenth-century idea which countenanced that poverty could be alleviated by the creation of communities where rich and poor would live close together and share their knowledge and skills. A

  forerunner of this was Toynbee Hall in the East End of London. Created by a Church of England curate Samuel Barnett, the vision was that future leaders would live and work in such areas and –

  having been face-to-face with poverty – would later, with their understanding of the real issues involved, be able to enact radical change. Clement Attlee, the Labour Prime Minister between

  1945 and 1951, was one such individual who, in 1910, spent a year at Toynbee Hall.




  Woolton once reflected on this period of his own life, writing that he was living there, ‘in the same spirit as the medical students of the time who were inquiring into the causes of

  TB’. This was a scientific investigation into the causes and problems of poverty, ‘on our very doorstep’, he wrote. Yet in spite of the serious subject

  matter, he was later keen to make it clear that it was not a life of drudgery. He spent a great deal of time, he wrote, ‘frankly enjoying myself’ and with ‘no clear idea of how I

  proposed to earn a living’.




  Fred recalled neighbours whose houses were ‘generally vermin-ridden’, and with ‘human inhabitants [who] were mostly the poverty-ridden victims of sweated labour and casual

  employment’. These were streets of brick-built houses from the early 1820s, terrace upon terrace of densely packed buildings, the exteriors black from soot, the insides damp and dirty. The

  streets were filled with raggedy children. On warmer days women sat outside stitching or selling clothes, old shoes or boots, while the men sat on the steps of pubs dressed in thick jackets, worn

  trousers and rounded felt hats.




  Fred and his student pals would not have been the only visitors to this part of Liverpool. The slums drew all kinds of people wishing to study – or correct – its inhabitants. There

  were housing reformers and temperance advocates, the latter arguing that it was alcohol that created so much of the poverty. Child protectists came, as did photographers hoping to win competitions

  with their images of people living amid dirt and grime. It wasn’t until the late 1950s that the slums were cleared. Almost half of the housing stock was deemed unfit for human habitation, and

  thousands of homes were then demolished. Families were moved away to towns like Skelmersdale, Kirkby or Widnes.




  But with all this evidence laid out before him, right outside his door, student Fred was able to garner data during the day and debate the subject around the coal-fired stove at night.

  Fred was made a warden of the settlement and Philip, later Lord, Rea, who became a Liberal politician and merchant banker, recalled meeting him then. ‘He had at that

  time, as I think he always had, a slightly chilling aspect when one first met him, but as soon as he spoke – as soon as his eyes twinkled – one knew that he had a warm heart.’




  The consequences of poverty never left Fred. Neither did he ever forget the shock of hearing one day in 1908 that a female neighbour had died, her body lying undiscovered for days. The woman had

  died of starvation. She had neither asked for help, nor had anyone ever come to her aid.




  Those two years on Park Street shaped the mind of Fred Marquis. ‘It was an experience that was to fashion much of my thought and actions for the rest of my life,’ he recalled.




  He had also been joined in what became a passion for social work by Maud Smith, the woman who would become his wife.




  Maud was the daughter of a stern man called Thomas Smith. A mechanical engineer, specialising in the construction of boilers and locomotives, he had been married three times and had, Woolton

  once noted, older brothers the same age as Fred’s own father. He was a passionate believer in education and was thus gratified that Maud and her sister would take advantage of it, but he was

  very wary of young men and had an almost violent dislike of the idea of his daughters becoming romantically attached. Maud never forgot a piece of advice her father once gave her on noting, in her

  late teens, that she was dressed up and going out to a party. ‘Remember this,’ he said, ‘I would rather see my daughters lying in their coffins than married to any man.’




  However independent she might have been, she could not totally cast off her father’s views and it made her wary of members of the opposite sex. ‘The truth was

  she was frightened of men,’ Woolton later wrote, adding: ‘She was always somewhat critical of them and greatly preferred the company of women.’




  As students of the same university, their paths crossed occasionally but these were days when women students did not speak to male students in college grounds. It was, wrote Woolton,

  ‘considered very forward, and of course we never used Christian names in speaking to one another either in college or outside’.




  Yet one day, for some reason and at a time when Fred and Maud barely knew each other, Maud broke with convention. It was a day of examinations and groups of men and women were nervously

  anticipating a few hours of intense thinking and writing.




  ‘We both entered the examination hall for the same examination at the same time,’ Woolton recalled. ‘To my intense surprise, as we entered the hall, Maud stepped out from a

  group of girls and wished me luck. It was all on the impulse of the moment – we had scarcely met before – and I don’t know and I’ve never known which of us were more

  surprised.’




  The pair got to know each other better eighteen months later in 1906, when, by chance, they found themselves joint secretaries of the University Sociological Society. Woolton recalled that Maud

  had ‘a challenging determination to resist any effort of men to come within any approach to dominating her. At the first it made our relationship a little difficult.’




  They had a shared interest in social conditions, political philosophy and current politics and worked together successfully in the society. But, wrote Woolton, ‘it

  was made abundantly clear to me that our relationship was of a strictly unemotional variety.’




  And thus their friendship continued for sometime on a purely platonic basis, even though Thomas Smith died, removing one obstacle to marriage. However, Fred was reluctant to move things forward

  at the time, because he had so little money, later admitting, ‘I was frightened of the responsibility of marriage. Not only was I quite unable to see a future for myself which could

  financially sustain matrimony, but I had the gravest doubts about whether I had the qualities which could make for happiness in my wife.’




  Maud meanwhile gave him no encouraging signals. One day a chemist Fred knew approached him, saying that he wanted to propose to Miss Smith. ‘I’d like to be sure of your own

  intentions, Fred,’ he said, ‘so that I know, so to speak, that she has not already been promised to you.’




  This was very noble, thought Fred, and knowing Maud well enough he decided to speak to her about it. ‘He has many virtues,’ he told her, ‘and I advise you to go and see

  him.’




  ‘But he’s so dull,’ replied Maud.




  ‘The sky was getting clearer,’ Woolton reflected. By this time he had also left university and was earning money as a senior mathematics master at Burnley College. He had also been

  appointed Warden of the David Lewis Hotel and Club Association in Liverpool – which provided cheap beds in the city’s docklands and was promoted by the successful store, Lewis’s – and the University Settlement. He had a salary, a flat, an income of £400 a year, two maids and subsidised food, fire and light.




  The pair had another conversation and, in his words, ‘we decided we would both like to take the risk.’




  Fred proposed properly and, he wrote, ‘as soon as we became publicly engaged she changed in her attitude to me and all the defences were withdrawn.’ And the tone of her letters to

  him changed dramatically. Any formality was gone and, like so many engaged couples, she expressed her anxiety at waiting for the wedding day to arrive. ‘I do wish we were married,’ she

  wrote in March 1912. She also sent him constant missives urging him to ‘rest’, joining his mother in telling the workaholic Fred to slow down occasionally – ‘gracious you

  don’t seem to know what it means . . . do mind what you are doing.’ She was also relieved Thomas Smith hadn’t lived to evaluate her beloved: ‘I’m glad that you never

  met my father,’ Maud once told Fred, ‘I’m sure that if you had you would have been sent summarily on your way.’ Her letters were always full of affection ending with the

  likes of ‘Goodbye beloved . . . Here’s a kiss . . . I shall miss you . . . I wish you were here . . . Always your sweetheart . . . Please don’t overwork . . .’




  Finally, on 10 October 1912, in a Unitarian ceremony in Liverpool, the couple were married. Fred’s mother Margaret, who approved of Maud, could not resist revealing her fear at the

  prospect of her son making a final wrench from the nest. The day before their wedding Margaret wrote Maud an emotional letter in which she made no attempt to hide her feelings. ‘We

  don’t want you to take our boy away from us,’ she pleaded desperately. ‘You come to us and we shall be happy and contented seeing you two living for each

  other.’




  Maud possibly did not have in mind that she would spend her married days living with Fred and his parents, but for the time being, that’s what happened. In her letter Margaret said she was

  finding it hard to express herself: ‘Excuse this letter for I can’t write. If you could read inside me you would be able to understand.’ Having finished the missive and signed it

  ‘Mammie’ – as she always would to her son – she returned to it later and wrote more on the blank back page, worried, perhaps, that Maud might have got the wrong idea about

  her.




  ‘I feel sure we shall get on all right why shouldn’t we. You are going to make Fred happy which is all I want and of course you to be happy in doing it.’ And a last sentence

  suggests that Maud wasn’t altogether comfortable with how her new mother-in-law clung to her son: ‘Perhaps as you know me more you will find out all that I would be to you if only you

  will let me.’




  Margaret then wrote a letter to Fred a few days later while the newly-weds were on honeymoon. ‘Surely you will not look so tired and worried when you come back,’ she clucked and then

  started panicking about his suitcases, which were, apparently, delayed. ‘It is strange that your luggage is so long in getting to you, I hope you have got it by now.’ She added that

  Fred’s father had taken a gas stove away to be fixed, that a friend had brought her some rabbits to eat and she asked him if he’d pay the bill for a delivery of tea.




  Meanwhile Fred devoted himself to his work and studies. There were the many hours he spent considering the links between ill health and physical incapacity. He learned the importance of providing pregnant women with rounded nutrition, and became almost obsessed with the importance of having good teeth. He grew to understand more than many the importance

  of nutrition in enabling a fulfilling life.




  Thirty years later Lord Woolton found himself running the ration and feeding Britain during a world war. ‘It was this experience, in a poverty-ridden district of Liverpool, that gave me

  the stimulus to use the powers of a war-time Minister of Food,’ he wrote.




  In preparing for his role as the nation’s feeder, Lord Woolton had started far earlier than anyone could have possibly imagined.
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  STEPPING STONES TO GOVERNMENT





  Woolton’s route to the Ministry of Food took in spells of teaching, lecturing, social work, school management and journalism until, in the 1920s, he found his metier in

  the retail business.




  To his huge frustration, but doubtless his mother’s great relief, he had been rejected from military service during the First World War. Exactly why is a slight mystery, but, having been

  medically examined, he was deemed C3. There is no record of him having ‘badly deformed toes or flat feet’ (common ailments among those listed as C3s). But in later years, during the

  subsequent war, he occasionally admits in his diaries to feeling ill and having colitis, a long term inflammatory bowel disease. Indeed in August 1942 he gave an interview with the author J. B.

  Priestley. Priestley asked him why he had been rejected seven times as an army recruit. ‘His reply,’ wrote Priestley with delicate diplomacy, ‘is indicated

  by my punctuation:’




  (Priestley, incidentally, was at first a little suspicious of Woolton and wrote: ‘When I first met him I thought him too urbane to be genuine, that smooth clean shaven face under the grey

  hair, that perfect careful dress, that precise and cautious speech, that refusal to be hurried about anything, it was all too suave for words.’ Yet he ended up being a great admirer.)




  So it’s likely that throughout his life Woolton suffered from intermittent abdominal pain. Typically, though, he used this to his advantage, taking a constant principled stance against

  rich, and thus in his view unnecessary, food. In June 1942, for example, he recorded a meal he had with some people who represented the cereals business. ‘They gave me lobster for

  lunch,’ he wrote in his diary. ‘My constitution wasn’t built for dealing with high living, and I was sick at night and have felt queer ever since.’




  According to his cook, Mrs Pomford, Woolton had unfussy tastes. ‘He is the easiest man in the world to please about his meals,’ she told the Daily Express in April 1940.




  But thus prevented by a delicate constitution from joining many of his friends who had gone to war, aged thirty-one in 1914, he became an economist in the War Office. There he had a range of

  roles, including managing the provision of blankets for the French and Belgian armies, and providing soap for the Russians.




  After the First World War, he dabbled in journalism. In this domain he didn’t bring his fevered intellectual brain to the subject of employment for the low-skilled

  poor or the construction of affordable homes. No, the subject he alighted on was the boot trade, and he wrote articles on the subject for the Times Trade Supplement. Spotting a post-war gap

  in the market, he tried a career in the boot-making world – he had dipped a toe in this field in the War Office, having had some dealings with supplying Russian soldiers with footwear. Of

  course, Woolton’s style of toe-dipping saw him becoming secretary to the Leather Control Board and then being appointed to the role of Civilian Boot Controller.




  He had noticed how smart men always stopped to put on galoshes – those rubber over-shoes – before they stepped out in inclement weather, and pondered on there being an opportunity

  for him: ‘I thought that there ought to be in America a market for men’s high class shoes that would make it unnecessary for them to wear galoshes whenever they went out in the

  rain,’ he recollected later. So, having first set up a federation to maintain and build on the reputation of Britain’s bootmakers, liaising and making allies with the bootmakers’

  union, he made a business trip to the United States.




  It was during that trip he renewed his acquaintance with another passenger, Sir Rex Cohen, managing director of the Lewis’s department store. Sir Rex had come across Fred while the younger

  man was working as a warden of one of the store’s social experiments: providing accommodation at the local docks. Sir Rex had offered Fred a job but he refused. Now on the boat, accompanied

  by their wives, the Cohens and Wooltons became good friends. So impressed was Sir Rex by this assured thirty-something entrepreneur, he decided to accompany Fred as he went on his boot mission

  around America.




  Before leaving England, Fred had been challenged about his boot idea by a cynical colleague he had known from his time in the War Office. ‘I am going into

  business,’ he told the man, Harry Bostock. ‘I swear to you that I will make a business so successful and profits so large that tears of envy will roll down your cheeks.’




  Fred didn’t manage to sell his newfangled, high quality boots to the Americans, but his travels with Sir Rex Cohen across the States led the boss of Lewis’s to one firm conclusion.

  Cohen could see a remarkable determination in this young man and renewed his determination to employ him.




  The two finally came to an agreement and Woolton joined the firm. ‘To go into retail business in 1920 was more of an adventure than I knew,’ he wrote. One of his personal challenges

  was to see if he could merge his business aspirations with his social conscience. Was it possible to make money and look after people? He dreamed of social harmony but also had an

  instinctive knack for business. As he wrote: ‘Could the “dream” and the “business” become a work-a-day reality?’




  He was joining a sixty-four-year-old family business and he was an outsider. As Rex Cohen himself put it: ‘This is the first time that I have ever invited anybody who was not of my family,

  and not of my [ Jewish] faith, to join me.’




  The store had been founded in Liverpool in 1856 by David Lewis and had humble beginnings as a small shop selling men’s and boys’ clothing. It steadily grew in size and merchandising

  scope, branching into being a ‘Universal Provider’ and spreading along Ranelagh Street before acquiring a second premises on Bold Street. By the early 1880s it had become a successful department store with branches in Manchester, Birmingham and Sheffield. In 1886, after the founder’s death, the store was bought out by Louis Cohen, a

  senior partner in the firm. It was his son Rex, who ran the business with his brother Harold, who had hired the young man he’d met on the boat to America.




  Fred was to experience all aspects of the business – a rollercoaster ride of retail – and it wasn’t long before, aged thirty-seven, he was made joint managing director of

  Lewis’s at a time when it was growing to become the biggest retail operator in the UK. Fred, during his forties and fifties – between 1920 and 1939 – was pivotal in growing the

  business.




  By the outbreak of the Second World War there would be Lewis’s department stores in Liverpool, Manchester, Glasgow, Leeds, Stoke-on-Trent and Leicester. The company would later open in

  Oxford, Blackpool, Bristol, Newcastle as well as buying and running Selfridges in London.




  His mother Margaret died in 1923, but not before seeing her son’s burgeoning career. ‘You know it was my one and sole ambition for you to be a parson, never thought of anything

  higher, did we?’ she wrote to him in her old age. ‘But fancy what a height you have got to. We often talk about it.’




  By the mid 1930s, Frederick Marquis was a successful businessman, a man in a trade that had become respectable, a chap who dressed impeccably, owned a substantial home (Hillfoot House in

  Liverpool, along with a cook, Elizabeth Pomford and her husband Albert, the butler), as well as a flat in London – and membership of the exclusive gentlemen’s club Brooks’s on St

  James’s Street – and a holiday home by Lake Windermere (Fallbarrow, bought in 1931). He had a small family, a daughter Peggy, born in 1917, and a son Roger, born

  in 1922, and a social life that first dallied on the edge of and then became intrinsic to fashionable London society.




  In recognition of his services to the British retail industry, he was knighted in July 1935. F. J. Marquis Esq. was written to from 10 Downing Street and told that the Prime Minister intended to

  submit his name to the King to confer a knighthood. The letter was stuck proudly into a private album at home, along with a picture of the new knight in top hat and tails on his way to Buckingham

  Palace for the investiture.




  The newly ennobled Sir Frederick then filled the entire album with the hundreds of telegrams and letters he received from everyone, from friends in London to merchandising managers in

  Manchester. Although he wasn’t political, he had already made his concerns about the rising power of Nazism plain by ending Lewis’s trade with Germany after its invasion of Austria in

  1938, urging other companies to do the same. But poor health, which had dogged him in private for some time, suddenly interrupted his working life. In the summer of 1938, Maud recorded in her diary

  that: ‘He was in bed for most of August and it left him very depressed. He had got a streptococcal infection and in spite of not making a full recovery he had gone back to work.’




  The following January Stanley Cohen, vice chairman of Lewis’s, asked to come and meet the couple together. ‘Fred has been ill,’ he stated frankly to Maud in front of her

  husband, ‘he doesn’t seem to be getting better properly and he needs a long holiday. Take him away for three months.’




  Both Maud and Cohen ignored Woolton’s protestations that he couldn’t possibly take that sort of time out and the business needed him. And so for three months

  in early 1939, the couple went to South Africa, accompanied by Peggy.




  ‘The result was that Fred got renewed health, which was providential,’ Maud wrote in her diary. She then added: ‘As a matter of fact I want to state here now that during both

  our lives there is marked evidence that a higher power than us has seeded us in most of our actions. All fits in. If Fred hadn’t had this holiday, he couldn’t have carried on.’

  And without that return to health and the protection of that higher power Woolton would have been unable to accept a role that would eventually lead him to the Ministry of Food.




  The moment they got back a letter arrived from the War Office. On 18 April 1939, Sir Harold Brown, director of munitions production at the War Office, wrote asking Woolton if he would take a

  position as ‘a distinguished industrialist who has a full knowledge of the various branches of the clothing trade, to advise the Department in regard to our plans and problems’.




  It was the spring of 1939 and, as the storm clouds of war gathered, the country was reluctantly preparing for the cataclysm to come. Woolton, for whom the army was not an option, believed he

  should serve his country in another way. He was given the mundane title of Technical Advisor on Textiles in the War Office. As the army quickly expanded in anticipation of war, which would be

  declared on 3 September of that year, Woolton’s job was an ill-defined position between the War Office and the Ministry of Supply.




  It transpired that those ‘problems’ referred to by the War Office included a lack of communication between the departments, and a wall of bureaucracy which

  made the actual buying and supplying of clothes for the army almost impossible.




  Woolton regretted accepting the job almost immediately. ‘In all my life I had never found myself in such a position,’ he wrote. ‘I saw clearly that war was coming. I had

  undertaken responsibility. I found nowhere a sense of urgency and I foresaw war breaking out with the army completely unprepared.’




  Maud also reflected on the chaos, writing, ‘The army clothing was still on a peace time basis. It brought in conscription and it had no uniforms.’ She also thought this step of her

  husband’s, into the world of government, was not a good one. ‘The whole idea seems the height of folly,’ she wrote.




  After his first day in the job Woolton reported back to Maud. ‘Do you know there are only five firms in this country making uniforms? And no one else seems to want to make them,’ he

  told her.




  ‘For the first month,’ wrote Maud, ‘he had a very sticky time.’




  There was, for example, the issue of trousers and trouser buttons (this being the pre-zip era for flies). Orders had been placed for trousers for soldiers, but because of the system in place,

  the department that placed the trouser orders was unable to place orders for buttons as these were not deemed actual clothing material. They had to be purchased by another department with a

  separate budget. But which department and which budget, no one was able to fathom. While the War Office held a budget for trousers, it didn’t have one for buttons.




  ‘I asked [the Contracts department of the War Office] what orders had been placed for trouser buttons – and the answer was none,’ Woolton wrote.

  ‘Trouser buttons were supplied by the contractors, not by the War Office. I enquired whether the contractors had placed orders for trouser buttons; no one knew. So I pointed out to them the

  essential nature of the trouser button . . . how the whole morale of any army in the long run might depend upon its trouser buttons.’




  Woolton went to see one of Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain’s top officials at 10 Downing Street, Sir Horace Wilson, to voice his frustrations about the shambolic system. Whether he

  voiced his concern that the British army might go to war with its flies undone or, worse, its trousers down is not recorded.




  ‘You are up against the machine of the Civil Service,’ Sir Horace told his flustered guest. ‘I have myself often been up against it in my forty years of experience. It has

  beaten me on many occasions, just as it is now beating you.’




  This was a red rag to a bull. Woolton was not accustomed to being beaten by faceless institutions or the implacable logic of Whitehall mandarins. He jumped up out of his chair furiously.




  ‘You have landed me in an impossible job,’ he bellowed. ‘If all you can tell me is that I am being beaten by a machine, I’ll go and break its neck!’




  Sir Horace replied: ‘Well, you’ll have to make a success of this as your commercial reputation depends on it.’ That remark, noted Maud in her diary, ‘made F [Fred] see

  red.’




  ‘By God,’ he stormed, ‘my commercial reputation doesn’t depend on this. But I’ll tell you one thing, your political reputation does, so

  you’d better see to it that you give me all the help you can.’




  Woolton left Downing Street, slamming the famous door as he stepped out. ‘I’m not sure whether [I did it] with shame or with gratification,’ he later reflected, hinting at a

  note of embarrassment for having lost his temper in the smart confines of the Prime Minister’s office. ‘I’m afraid I used some language that was unsuitable for Number Ten Downing

  Street.’




  Galvanised by his anger, Woolton started firing off memos and knocking heads together. He realised that if he approached the various problems as a businessman rather than a politician he might

  have more luck.




  He put a call into Sir Warren Fisher, the head of the Civil Service machine, insisting on a meeting which was granted and during which he outlined the gravity of the situation. ‘The army

  will not be clothed in time unless I am allowed to put aside the peace-time system of contracting and am given a completely free hand to run the clothing of the army as a business

  organisation,’ he told him.




  Fisher nodded sagely and indicated that the Treasury would concur. ‘You have complete authority,’ he said. ‘I will give instructions in the Treasury in accordance with this

  interview.’




  Woolton recorded, triumphantly, that ‘the way was all clear’. His own civil servants were flabbergasted. ‘You know, Sir, it isn’t fair,’ one told him. ‘We

  have been labouring for months, and you come in, pick up a telephone, and get an interview that none of us could have got, and then get financial authority for which there is no

  parallel.’




  Within four months Woolton had increased the number of firms making uniforms from five to 500. By the summer he had clothed the army and felt his job was done. He had

  battled against the Civil Service and won, and, as a nonmilitary man, he had served his country at a crucial time. Soldiers were clothed and as they marched to war their trousers would stay up.




  ‘Well, there you are,’ he told Maud. ‘I’ve done what they asked me, in fact a great deal more. Now I’ll go back to my job.’




  But before he had a chance do so much as gather a board meeting of Lewis’s, he received a rather pleasant notice from Downing Street. In King George VI’s birthday honours list of

  June 1939 Sir Frederick Marquis was elevated to the peerage ‘for public services’. He received the news one May morning while shaving.




  Maud was, as was her habit, opening his letters while he got washed and dressed at their London apartment, Whitehall Court. ‘Maud was always almost childishly interested in receiving

  letters,’ Woolton reflected years later, when he wrote a long tribute to her for the benefit of his family after she had died.




  ‘Oh, here’s a letter from the Prime Minister marked secret,’ Maud said from the bedroom as she worked through his usual pile of letters. Woolton professed that he had no

  curiosity about it so told his wife to go ahead. The last time he had been honoured, he had managed to get to the letter first and had kept his knighthood a secret from her until the announcement

  was made.




  ‘You can’t leave me out this time,’ she said. ‘The PM wants to send you to the Lords.’ Maud came into the bathroom, found a bit of her

  husband’s cheek that was free of soap, and kissed him. ‘I’m glad your services are being recognised in this rather startling way,’ she said.




  Before agreeing to accept the peerage, Woolton decided to make a journey north from London to Rugby, where the couple’s son Roger was studying at the Warwickshire public school. It had

  been founded in 1567 by a purveyor of spices to Queen Elizabeth I as a free grammar school for the boys of local towns Rugby and Brownsover.




  The title being offered was hereditary, so if Fred was to be ennobled he wanted to make sure his son was aware of his future responsibilities. Roger was a shy boy with a stammer that would never

  leave him. Later in life he would wear his father’s celebrity and success heavily. Where his father was self-assured and pragmatic, Roger always lacked confidence and was vulnerable. It was

  to his boarding school that Woolton made a special journey. While he was to be ennobled for his diligent good works, Roger would be simply saddled with the hereditary title. For a man with a

  distinctly working-class background, Woolton was very aware of what wearing the ermine meant. He was closing in on a very elite part of society, and Roger needed to be properly informed and have

  the seriousness of this honour made clear to him. Woolton was becoming increasingly aware of his legacy. There was already a financial one – having made a considerable amount of money at

  Lewis’s – and in due course he would set up a web of trusts for his offspring and their descendants. Now a peerage was being added to the mix.




  The conversation with Roger would be formal, not that this was out of the ordinary. Woolton was not the type to kick a football around with his son. In later life he was

  known to dutifully pat his grandchildren on the head but it didn’t occur to him that he should be anything but stern and forthright with his son. An only child who had long escaped his own

  semi-literate father, he did not do touchy-feely emotion.




  Having fetched Roger from his boarding house, perhaps father and son took a walk and then sat down on a bench that overlooked the school’s famous playing fields. According to Maud’s

  diary, Woolton told his seventeen-year-old son the news, and ‘pointed out that Roger would inherit’.




  ‘If you don’t want the title and the responsibilities that go with it then I will tell the Prime Minister that I do not wish to accept this honour,’ Woolton said to his teenage

  son.




  ‘Roger was very sensible about it,’ wrote Maud who believed that ‘he realised he was being seriously consulted, and decided that he was willing to shoulder the responsibilities

  when they arrived.’




  Of course the idea that Roger would have suggested otherwise, and then that his father would have told the Prime Minister that his son’s ambivalence to the honour meant that he would

  decline it, is ludicrous.




  Roger was then given special permission by his school to attend a dinner in London thrown by Maud to celebrate her husband’s elevation to the peerage. Doubtless, seated around the table

  with Woolton’s various business colleagues and friends, the teenage Roger would have again had it impressed upon him what responsibilities lay in the years ahead.




  As a result, another private family album was stuffed with newspaper cuttings and messages of congratulations. With Maud, Fred, in his words, ‘had fun choosing a

  title’, finally picking the name of Woolton (the district of his childhood in Liverpool). Using his own name was ruled out at the start, having been informed that to be called Baron Marquis

  might confuse people that he’d been made a marquess; he wasn’t quite ready to make that final leap to aristocracy (he’d need to wait another sixteen years before he would be made

  an earl). Maud had counselled against one idea that he become Lord Windermere, in honour of the beloved stretch of water where they had a holiday home. She was happy to be Fred’s wife, but

  thought the joke that she was his permanent fan (in reference to Oscar Wilde’s play Lady Windermere’s Fan) would wear thin fairly quickly.




  Woolton noted that Maud would enjoy her title of Lady Woolton. ‘She was now more than one up on those snobs in Mossley Hill,’ he wrote referring to the stuck-up ladies of that

  district of Liverpool where she had once worked.




  Freshly ennobled and just five days after war was declared, on 8 September 1939 Woolton was asked to take on another government job – this time as Director General of Equipment and Stores,

  working in the newly formed Ministry of Supply. This added the job of equipment to that of clothing – with which he was now familiar – and there were some 16,000 different articles to

  manage. ‘But,’ noted Maud, ‘having already got the clothing into ship-shape, the task wasn’t so difficult.’




  Fred and Maud, as Lord and Lady Woolton, now realised that a return to normal life was becoming ever more distant. Maud noted in her diary that the reason for his barony was more than a

  recognition of his retail work and any other public service. The government ‘realising the country was coming to a crisis needed men like F. They knew he wouldn’t

  go in to the House of Commons so this was the best way to use him.’




  But these jobs managing supplies seemed almost petty for a man who had run the huge and logistically complicated business of Lewis’s. It was therefore of no great surprise when, in April

  1940, Neville Chamberlain, casting around to find someone who might be able to run a ministry whose job it was to nourish Britain in time of crisis, landed upon Woolton. The first incumbent,

  William Morrison, had not been an unqualified success.




  Given that Lord Woolton by now had been responsible for clothing much of the nation, it wasn’t impossible that he might make a reasonable fist of feeding it, reckoned Chamberlain, so he

  invited Woolton to Downing Street for a meeting. ‘The Prime Minister obviously had not sent for me to give him advice,’ he said. ‘He told me that I had clearly demonstrated a

  capacity for organisation on a large scale in an emergency, that he wanted me to do it again on what he regarded as a more important front than clothing the army, now that these supplies were

  secure.’




  Chamberlain asked him to be Minister of Food. Woolton’s first reaction was to claim ignorance of the subject: ‘I know nothing about food except as a consumer,’ he protested. He

  also insisted that he would only accept the role if he could operate as a businessman would in charge of a critical department. ‘I am anxious not to get mixed up in politics,’ he told

  the PM.




  Chamberlain attempted to reassure him on this point. But there was another concern. While Woolton could function as a businessman in government, he would have to cease his

  real business ventures. ‘Do you have any idea of the amount of financial sacrifice that would be involved in my giving up my several and very lucrative business appointments?’ he

  demanded to Chamberlain, a little taken aback. Woolton added that he’d also have to ask his wife what she thought. This rather irritated Chamberlain, who had expected an immediate answer:

  ‘Why do you need to ask your wife?’ he said.




  Woolton left considering the financial downsides and assuming that Maud would not welcome it. They had, after all, become rather used to the trappings of considerable wealth by now. ‘To

  accept government office meant a complete severance of all business connections and a very heavy loss of income,’ he mused privately. His two previous jobs had not been of ministerial level.

  ‘I’ll have to give up all of my directorships,’ he told Maud. ‘There’s a financial downside to that, you know.’




  ‘What does it matter?’ she replied. ‘When you are asked to do something in war time, unless it’s peculiarly distasteful or against one’s principles, there is only

  one answer.’




  Woolton returned to Downing Street the following day to accept the role. Chamberlain produced a smile more warmly than Woolton had ever thought possible from this dour and serious man. His

  previous and usual demeanour, according to Woolton, being always ‘conducted in a formal and almost frigid manner’.




  ‘They always told me you would make any sacrifice for your country,’ the PM told him, ‘and they were right.’




  So Woolton became a member of the government, and Chamberlain proposed to ask the King that he be further made a member of the Privy Council, an indication that Woolton

  would become one of the most senior players and advisors in government.




  ‘He accepted on the Wednesday and it was made public on Thursday,’ wrote Maud.




  Woolton was taking on the biggest task of his life. Approaching the age of fifty-seven, he was no spring chicken in the vanguard of entrepreneurial youth. This grey-haired, patrician-looking

  gent who might, in normal circumstances, have been looking forward to a graceful retirement from the rigours of business, was going to be more active than he could ever have imagined. He would need

  every ounce of energy and acumen in the tough days and months that lay ahead. As he went home that evening, armed with Sir Henry’s draft speech, he steeled himself for the task in front of

  him, not a little nervous at what might happen.
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  THE MINISTRY OF FOOD





  Day One




  The Ministry of Food was situated in a corner building that overlooked Portman Square. Rented by the government, Portman Court had been chosen to locate the ministry away from

  Whitehall. His office was an unexciting spacious room with a large estate desk covered with neat stacks of papers. A rust-coloured material covered various chairs and there was a large mahogany

  conference table.
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